
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

AGENDA  
LICENSING AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS 

COMMITTEE 
 
 
Date: Tuesday, 11 October 2022 
  
Time: 6.00 pm 
  
Venue: Collingwood Room - Civic Offices 

 
 
Members:  
Councillor Mrs P M Bryant (Chairman) 

 
Councillor Ms F Burgess (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillors I Bastable 

Mrs S M Bayford 
S Dugan 
J M Englefield 
M J Ford, JP 
D J Hamilton 
Mrs P Hayre 
S Ingram 
Ms S Pankhurst 
Mrs K K Trott 
Mrs S M Walker 

 
Deputies: Mrs K Mandry 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

For further information please contact: 
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ 

Tel: 01329 236100 
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk  

P Nother 

Page 2

mailto:democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk


 

 

  
1. Apologies for Absence  
 
2. Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 
 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 

25 July 2022. 
  

3. Chairman's Announcements  
 
4. Declarations of Interest  
 To receive any declarations of interest from members in accordance with Standing 

Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
  

5. Deputations  
 To receive any deputations of which notice has been lodged. 

  
6. Local Government Boundary Review  - Consultation on Proposals for 

Fareham (Pages 9 - 52) 
 To consider a report by the Head of Democratic Services which invites the 

Committee to consider the Boundary Commissions’ proposals for Fareham.  
  

7. Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee Work Programme (Pages 53 - 58) 
 To consider a report by the Head of Environmental Health on the Committee’s Work 

Programme for 2022/23. 
 

 
P GRIMWOOD 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
Civic Offices 
www.fareham.gov.uk  
29 September 2022 

 
 
 

For further information please contact: 
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ 

Tel:01329 236100 
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk 

Page 3

http://www.fareham.gov.uk/
tel:01329
mailto:democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk




 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Minutes of the 
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs 

Committee 
 

(to be confirmed at the next meeting) 

 
Date: Monday, 25 July 2022 
  
Venue: Collingwood Room - Civic Offices 

 
 

PRESENT:  

Councillor Mrs P M Bryant (Chairman) 
 

Councillor Ms F Burgess (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillors: I Bastable, Mrs S M Bayford, S Dugan, J M Englefield, 
M J Ford, JP, D J Hamilton, Mrs P Hayre, S Ingram, 
Ms S Pankhurst, Mrs K K Trott and Mrs S M Walker 
 

 
Also 
Present: 

  
 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Licensing and Regulatory 
Affairs Committee 

 25 July 2022 

 

 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Mrs J Kelly.   
 

2. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory 
Affairs Committee held on 27 June 2022 be confirmed and signed as a correct 
record.  
 

3. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman reminded the Committee that Licensing training has been 
arranged for Monday 05 September 2022 at 3pm and will be held in the 
Council Chamber. The Chairman reminded members of the importance of 
undertaking this training which is required in order for members to be able to 
take part in Licensing Panel hearings.   
 
The Chairman also requested that members note that the date of the 
Committee meeting in October has changed from the 04 October to the 11 
October.  
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting.  
 

5. DEPUTATIONS  
 
Deputations were received from Mr Stephen Wade, Managing Director of 
Radio Taxis, in respect of item 6 on the agenda and Mr Roderick 
Westmoreland from Radio Taxis in respect of item 7 on the agenda. 
 

6. REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE TARIFF  
 
A deputation was received in respect of this item from Mr Stephen Wade, 
Managing Director of Radio Taxis. 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Head of Environmental Health 
which presented the details and outcome of the public consultation on the 
Hackney Carriage Tariff and invited members to consider whether an increase 
in the tariff would be appropriate.  
 
Members noted that, at their own request, the Taxi Trade has not had an 
increase in tariff for several years as it has been keen to maintain an 
affordable service to the residents of Fareham.  However, due to the 
increasing cost of living, it was strongly felt that an increase would be 
appropriate this year.  
 
In discussing the level of increase in the Hackney Carriage Tariff, members felt 
that it was important to pay high regard to the level of increase requested by 
the Trade, as they are best placed to understand what will work best for their 

Page 6



Licensing and Regulatory 
Affairs Committee 

 25 July 2022 

 

 

industry. The Committee was therefore supportive that the Tariff be increased 
in line with option ii) as outlined in paragraph 7 of the report.  
 
In discussing the proposed amendments to the Tariff Card, as outlined at 
paragraph 16 of the report, the Committee felt that no extra charge should be 
made to customers paying their fare by card but felt that it was reasonable that 
in the event of a journey including a toll or congestion charge, these should be 
added to the fare.  
 
RESOLVED that, having considered the responses received from the 
consultation, the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee: 
 

(a) considers that an increase in the Hackney Carriage Tariff is appropriate; 
and  
 

(b) recommends to the Executive that:   
 
i. the Hackney Carriage Tariff be increased to £3.00 pull off plus 20p 

for each succeeding 170 metres; 
 

ii. the Tariff Card be updated to state that no extra charge may be 
made for making payments by card; and  

 
iii. the Tariff Card be updated to state that any toll or congestion 

charge may be added to the fare.   
 

7. REVIEW OF TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING REQUIREMENTS  
 
A deputation was received in respect of this item from Mr Roderick 
Westmoreland of Radio Taxis. 
 
The Committee received a report by the Head of Environmental Health which 
presented proposed changes to the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 
Requirements for consideration. 
 
In discussing the proposal that drug testing be introduced, members were 
assured that if agreement in principle is given, research would be carried out 
by officers to ensure that the quality of the tests secured for use is fit for 
purpose.    
 
RESOLVED that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee: 
 

(a) approves the following amendments to the Taxi and Private Hire 
Licensing Requirements: 

 
i. the introduction of 6 monthly DBS checks via the update service; 

 
ii. the introduction of drug testing for new applicants and randomly 

for licensed drivers; 
 

iii. an amendment to documentation to include Tax checks 
 

Page 7



Licensing and Regulatory 
Affairs Committee 

 25 July 2022 

 

 

iv. an amendment to documentation to start using the National 
Database of Refusals and Revocations (NR3); 

 
v. a requirement that vehicle age when first plating must be less 

than 5 years old; and 
 

(b) agrees to delegate authority to the Head of Environmental Health to 
redraft and publish the document to reflect these changes. 

 
8. LICENSING AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS COMMITTEE WORK 

PROGRAMME  
 
The Committee considered a report by the Head of Environmental Health on 
the Committee’s Work Programme for 2022/23. 
 
RESOLVED that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee: 
 

(a) notes the progress on actions  arising from the meeting of the 
Committee held on 27 June 2022, as shown in Appendix A to the 
report; and  
 

(b) agrees the updated Work Programme  for 2022/23, as attached  as 
Appendix B to the report.  

 
(The meeting started at 6.00 pm 

and ended at 7.17 pm). 
 
 

Page 8



 
 

Report to 
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs 

Committee 
 
 
 
Date 11 October 2022  
 
Report of: Head of Democratic Services 
 
Subject: LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY REVIEW – CONSULTATION 

ON PROPOSALS FOR FAREHAM  
 
 
  

SUMMARY 

The Local Government Boundary Commission for England is tasked to periodically 
review electoral arrangements for every council area in England.  The last review in 
Fareham took place in 2000 and this review is scheduled to be completed in time for 
the May 2024 local elections. 
The second part of the electoral review is to consider the warding arrangements for 
the Borough, including a new pattern of wards and the naming of those wards. 
Fareham Borough Council is invited to submit its response to the Local Government 
Boundary Commission’s draft recommendations, as part of the public consultation 
which closes on 15 November 2022. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the Licensing & Regulatory Affairs Committee reviews the 
Boundary Commission’s draft recommendations for new ward boundaries across the 
Borough of Fareham, and   

(a) provides wording to be incorporated within the Council’s response to the 
consultation;  

(b) delegates authority to the Head of Democratic Services to create the draft 
consultation response reflecting the Committee’s views and those of the 
Member Working group; and 

(c) agrees that the draft consultation response be presented to Council at its 
meeting on 27 October 2022, prior to it being submitted to the Local 
Government Boundary Commission for England on 15 November 2022. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



  

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (the Commission) is the 
independent organisation responsible for conducting reviews of local authority electoral 
arrangements. This is carried out through an 'electoral review'. The Commission’s view 
is that a ‘good’ review is one where the local authority actively engages with the 
process. 

2. The final stage for the review is to set a new pattern of electoral wards for the Local 
Authority. The Commission has recommended that 32 councillors should be elected to 
the council in future. The Commission’s consultation is seeking responses to its 
proposed pattern of wards across Fareham. 

BACKGROUND 

3. The Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 gives the 
Commission the power to review the electoral arrangements of all, or any, principal 
councils in England. 

4. In drawing up a pattern of electoral wards, the Commission seeks to:  

• Deliver electoral equality for local voters – this means ensuring that each local 
councillor represents roughly the same number of people so that the value of 
your vote is the same regardless of where you live in the local authority area:  

• Reflect the interests and identities of local communities – this means 
establishing electoral arrangements which, as far as possible, maintain local ties 
and where boundaries are easily identifiable: and 

• Promote effective and convenient local government – this means ensuring that 
the new wards or electoral divisions can be represented effectively by their 
elected representative(s) and that the new electoral arrangements as a whole 
allow the local authority to conduct its business effectively. In addition, the 
Commission must also ensure that the pattern of wards reflects the electoral 
cycle of the council. 

5. The Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee is the appropriate forum to review and 
agree the Council’s response to the consultation on the Commission’s draft 
recommendations for Fareham’s warding arrangements by virtue of its functions 
relating to elections, as set out in part 2, chapter 6 of the Council’s Constitution. 

BOUNDARY COMMISSION DRAFT PROPOSALS 

6. The full details of the Commission’s draft recommendations can be viewed via the 
Commission’s website here: https://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/south-
east/hampshire/fareham.  

7. The Commission’s summary report containing details and map views for all the 
proposed wards is included at Appendix A with an overview map of the ward 
boundaries across the borough at Appendix B. 

8. In its report, the Commission acknowledged that the Council’s borough-wide warding 
pattern submission “provided for a uniform pattern of wards resulting in good levels of 
electoral equality in most areas of the authority”. The Commission has therefore 

Page 10

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/south-east/hampshire/fareham
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/south-east/hampshire/fareham


 

 
 

published its recommendations which are predominantly based on the Council’s 
proposal which was submitted in July 2022. 

CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

9. The Boundary Review Member Working Group met on 7 September 2022 to review the 
Commission’s proposals and to discuss each of the Commission’s alterations to the 
Councils’ submission in detail.  

10. In providing a general response to the Commission’s proposals, the Member Working 
Group is keen for the point to be made to the Commission that straight lines on a map 
do not necessarily accurately reflect actual community ties. This comment follows a 
number of examples where boundary lines appear to have been “smoothed out” by the 
Commission’s proposals where the Council’s submission had created a “jagged” 
boundary around land holdings, having carefully considered access roads for both 
properties and open spaces. 

11. The Member Working Group agreed that the consultation submission should highlight 
the following areas where further narrative is required to support the Council’s original 
plan: 

• Warsash Road/Hunts Pond Road triangle – the postal address is Titchfield 
Common but the Commission proposal has it in the Meon ward. 

• Church Road has been split down the middle with properties to the north in Park 
Gate and properties to the south in Titchfield Common. 

• St John’s Church has been included in Titchfield Common ward but it is the 
church for Locks Heath. 

• Catisfield Road has been included in Avenue ward but is closely associated with 
Titchfield village in Meon ward. 

•  The boundary line cuts through The Avenue resulting in properties to the north 
in Avenue ward and to the south in Fort Fareham ward. 

• Deanes Park Road has been included in Fareham Town but should remain in 
Wallington & Downend ward. 

• The Commission’s changes to Avenue, Fort Fareham and Fareham Town wards 
have resulted in changes to the ward electorate numbers. 

12. The Licensing & Regulatory Affairs Committee is invited to provide commentary on 
these areas and any other changes proposed by the Commission’s proposals. 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

13. The Council is required to engage in the Electoral Review process, as set out in 
legislation. The review provides the opportunity for Members to fully engage and 
contribute to the consultation response submission during the review phase. 

 

Page 11



 

 
 

CONCLUSION 

14. The Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee is invited to consider the content of 
the Boundary Commission’s draft recommendations for new ward boundaries across 
the Borough of Fareham. 

15. The Committee is asked to consider recommendations (a) (b) and (c):  

(a) provide wording to be incorporated within the Council’s response to the 
consultation;  

(b) delegate authority to the Head of Democratic Services to create the draft 
consultation response reflecting the Committee’s views and those of the Member 
Working group; and 

(c) agree that the draft consultation response be presented to Council at its meeting 
on 27 October 2022, prior to it being submitted to the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England on 15 November 2022 

 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
Appendix A – Fareham Draft Recommendations Report 
Appendix B - Fareham Draft Recommendations Map 
 
Background Papers: 
Correspondence with Review Officers at the Local Government Boundary Commission 
 
Reference Papers:  
Local Government Boundary Review - Warding Arrangements Submission – Report to 
Licensing & Regulatory Affairs Committee 27 June 2022 
 
Local Government Boundary Review – Council Size Submission - Report to Licensing & 
Regulatory Affairs Committee 23 November 2021 
 
 
Enquiries: 
For further information on this report please contact Leigh Usher 01329 824553 

 

Page 12



New electoral arrangements for 
Fareham Borough Council
Draft Recommendations
September 2022

Page 13

4363
Text Box
Appendix A



Translations and other formats:
To get this report in another language or in a large-print or Braille version, 
please contact the Local Government Boundary Commission for England at:
Tel: 0330 500 1525
Email: reviews@lgbce.org.uk

Licensing:
The mapping in this report is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Keeper of Public Records 
© Crown copyright and database right. Unauthorised reproduction infringes 
Crown copyright and database right.
Licence Number: GD 100049926 2022

A note on our mapping:
The maps shown in this report are for illustrative purposes only. Whilst best 
efforts have been made by our staff to ensure that the maps included in 
this report are representative of the boundaries described by the text, there 
may be slight variations between these maps and the large PDF map that 
accompanies this report, or the digital mapping supplied on our consultation 
portal. This is due to the way in which the final mapped products are produced. 
The reader should therefore refer to either the large PDF supplied with this 
report or the digital mapping for the true likeness of the boundaries intended. 
The boundaries as shown on either the large PDF map or the digital mapping 
should always appear identical.

Page 14



Page 15



 

 

Contents 
Introduction 1 

Who we are and what we do 1 

What is an electoral review? 1 

Why Fareham? 2 

Our proposals for Fareham 2 

How will the recommendations affect you? 2 

Have your say 3 

Review timetable 3 

Analysis and draft recommendations 5 

Submissions received 5 

Electorate figures 5 

Number of councillors 6 

Ward boundaries consultation 6 

Draft recommendations 7 

Portchester 8 

Fareham 10 

Hill Head, Meon and Stubbington 14 

Hook-with-Warsash, Locks Heath, Park Gate, Sarisbury & Whiteley and 
Titchfield Common 16 

Conclusions 19 

Summary of electoral arrangements 19 

Have your say 21 

Equalities 25 

Appendices 27 

Appendix A 27 

Draft recommendations for Fareham Borough Council 27 

Appendix B 29 

Outline map 29 

Appendix C 30 

Submissions received 30 

Appendix D 31 

Glossary and abbreviations 31 

Page 16



 

 
Page 17



 

1 

Introduction 
Who we are and what we do 
1 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) is an 
independent body set up by Parliament.1 We are not part of government or any 
political party. We are accountable to Parliament through a committee of MPs 
chaired by the Speaker of the House of Commons. Our main role is to carry out 
electoral reviews of local authorities throughout England. 
 
2 The members of the Commission are: 
 

• Professor Colin Mellors OBE 
(Chair) 

• Andrew Scallan CBE 
(Deputy Chair) 

• Susan Johnson OBE 
• Peter Maddison QPM 

• Amanda Nobbs OBE 
• Steve Robinson 
 
• Jolyon Jackson CBE  

(Chief Executive)

 
What is an electoral review? 
3 An electoral review examines and proposes new electoral arrangements for a 
local authority. A local authority’s electoral arrangements decide: 
 

• How many councillors are needed. 
• How many wards or electoral divisions there should be, where their 

boundaries are and what they should be called. 
• How many councillors should represent each ward or division. 

 
4 When carrying out an electoral review the Commission has three main 
considerations: 
 

• Improving electoral equality by equalising the number of electors that each 
councillor represents. 

• Ensuring that the recommendations reflect community identity. 
• Providing arrangements that support effective and convenient local 

government. 
 
5 Our task is to strike the best balance between these three considerations when 
making our recommendations. 
 

 
1 Under the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Page 18



 

2 

6 More detail regarding the powers that we have, as well as further guidance and 
information about electoral reviews and the review process in general, can be found 
on our website at www.lgbce.org.uk 
 
Why Fareham? 
7 We are conducting a review of Fareham Borough Council (‘the Council’) as the 
last review was completed in 2000, and we are required to review the electoral 
arrangements of every council in England ‘from time to time’.2 Additionally, some 
councillors currently represent many more or fewer electors than others. We 
describe this as ‘electoral inequality’. Our aim is to create ‘electoral equality’, where 
the number of electors per councillor is as even as possible, ideally within 10% of 
being exactly equal. 
 
8 This electoral review is being carried out to ensure that: 
 

• The wards in Fareham are in the best possible places to help the Council 
carry out its responsibilities effectively. 

• The number of electors represented by each councillor is approximately 
the same across the borough.  

 
Our proposals for Fareham 
9 Fareham should be represented by 32 councillors, one more than there are 
now. 
 
10 Fareham should have 16 wards, one more than there are now. 

 
11 The boundaries of all wards should change. 
 
How will the recommendations affect you? 
12 The recommendations will determine how many councillors will serve on the 
Council. They will also decide which ward you can vote in, and which other 
communities are in that ward. Your ward name may also change. 
 
13 Our recommendations cannot affect the external boundaries of the borough or 
result in changes to postcodes. They do not take into account parliamentary 
constituency boundaries. The recommendations will not affect local taxes, house 
prices, or car and house insurance premiums and we are not able to consider any 
representations which are based on these issues. 
  

 
2 Local Democracy, Economic Development & Construction Act 2009 paragraph 56(1). 

Page 19

http://www.lgbce.org.uk/


 

3 

Have your say 
14 We will consult on the draft recommendations for 10 weeks, from 6 September 
2022 to 15 November 2022. We encourage everyone to use this opportunity to 
comment on these proposed wards as the more public views we hear, the more 
informed our decisions will be in making our final recommendations. 
 
15 We ask everyone wishing to contribute ideas for the new wards to first read this 
report and look at the accompanying map before responding to us.  

 
16 You have until 15 November 2022 to have your say on the draft 
recommendations. See page 21 for how to send us your response. 
 
Review timetable 
17 We wrote to the Council to ask its views on the appropriate number of 
councillors for Fareham. We then held a period of consultation with the public on 
warding patterns for the borough. The submissions received during consultation 
have informed our draft recommendations. 
 
18 The review is being conducted as follows: 
 
Stage starts Description 

18 January 2022 The number of councillors decided 
25 January 2022 Start of consultation seeking views on new wards 

11 July 2022 End of the consultation; we began analysing submissions and 
forming draft recommendations 

6 September 2022 Publication of draft recommendations; start of the second 
consultation 

15 November 2022 End of the consultation; we begin analysing submissions and 
forming final recommendations 

7 February 2023 Publication of final recommendations 
  

Page 20



 

4 

  

Page 21



 

5 

Analysis and draft recommendations 
19 Legislation3 states that our recommendations should not be based only on how 
many electors4 there are now, but also on how many there are likely to be in the five 
years after the publication of our final recommendations. We must also try to 
recommend strong, clearly identifiable boundaries for our wards. 

 
20 In reality, we are unlikely to be able to create wards with the same number of 
electors in each; we have to be flexible. However, we try to keep the number of 
electors represented by each councillor as close to the average for the council as 
possible. 

 
21 We work out the average number of electors per councillor for each local 
authority by dividing the electorate by the number of councillors, as shown in the 
table below. 
 
 2021 2028 
Electorate of Fareham 89,046 97,790 
Number of councillors 32 32 
Average number of electors per 
councillor 2,873 3,056 

 
22 When the number of electors per councillor in a ward is within 10% of the 
average for the authority, we refer to the ward as having ‘good electoral equality’. All 
our proposed wards for Fareham will have good electoral equality by 2028. 
 
Submissions received 
23 See Appendix C for details of the submissions received. All submissions may 
be viewed on our website at www.lgbce.org.uk 
 
Electorate figures 
24 The Council submitted electorate forecasts for 2027, a period five years on 
from the scheduled publication of our final recommendations in 2022. These 
forecasts were broken down to polling district level and predicted an increase in the 
electorate of around 10%. This is due to significant residential development 
anticipated in the current Fareham North and Warsash wards. 
 
25 We considered the information provided by the Council and are satisfied that 
the projected figures are the best available at present.  

 
 

3 Schedule 2 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 
4 Electors refers to the number of people registered to vote, not the whole adult population. 

Page 22

file://lgbce.org.uk/dfs/Company/REVIEWS/Current%20Reviews/Reviews%20F%20-%20L/Isles%20of%20Scilly/08.%20Draft%20Recommendations%20Report/www.lgbce.org.uk


 

6 

26 Due to a delay in this review, the publication year of our final recommendations 
has changed from 2022 to 2023. However, we are content that the original 2027 
forecast is a reasonable estimate of the forecast number of electors likely to be 
present in the authority in 2028. We have used these figures to produce our draft 
recommendations. 
 
Number of councillors 
27 Fareham Borough Council currently has 31 councillors. We have looked at 
evidence provided by the Council and have concluded that increasing this number by 
one will ensure the Council can carry out its roles and responsibilities effectively. 
 
28 We therefore invited proposals for new patterns of wards that would be 
represented by 32 councillors. As the Council elects by halves (meaning that half its 
councillors are elected every two years), there is a presumption in legislation5 that 
the Council have a uniform pattern of two-councillor wards. We will only move away 
from this pattern of wards should we receive compelling evidence during consultation 
that an alternative pattern of wards will better reflect our statutory criteria.  
 
29 We received 12 submissions about the number of councillors in response to the  
consultation on warding patterns, which all opposed the minor increase in councillors 
for the borough. However, we have not been persuaded that sufficiently detailed 
evidence has been received to justify moving away from a 32-councillor scheme. We 
are also mindful of the presumption in law that the Council should ideally have an 
even number of councillors to reflect its electoral cycle of halves. Therefore, we have 
decided to base our draft recommendations for Fareham on a pattern of wards 
formed of 32 councillors. 
 
Ward boundaries consultation 
30 We received 64 submissions in response to our consultation on ward 
boundaries. These included a borough-wide scheme from the Council. The 
remainder of the submissions provided localised comments for warding 
arrangements in particular areas of the borough. 
 
31 The borough-wide scheme provided for a uniform pattern of two-councillor 
wards for Fareham. We carefully considered the proposals received and were of the 
view that the proposed patterns of wards resulted in good levels of electoral equality 
in most areas of the authority and generally used identifiable boundaries. 

 
32 A local resident suggested that Fareham borough be composed of 13 two-
councillor wards and two three-councillor wards. However, as indicated in paragraph 

 
5 Schedule 2 to the Local Democracy, Economic Development & Construction Act 2009 paragraph 
2(3)(d) and paragraph 2(5)(c) 

Page 23



 

7 

28, we were not persuaded that sufficient evidence had been supplied to support a 
warding pattern that does not provide for a uniform pattern of two-councillor wards. 

 
33 Our draft recommendations are therefore based predominantly on the Council’s 
proposals. We have nonetheless also taken into account local evidence that we 
received, which provided further evidence of community links and locally recognised 
boundaries. In some areas, we considered that the proposals did not provide the 
best balance between our statutory criteria, so we identified alternative boundaries.  

 
34 We visited the area to look at the various proposals on the ground. This tour of 
Fareham helped us to decide between the different boundaries proposed. 
 
Draft recommendations 
35 Our draft recommendations are for 16 two-councillor wards. We consider that 
our draft recommendations will provide for good electoral equality while reflecting 
community identities and interests where we received such evidence during 
consultation. 
 
36 The tables and maps on pages 8–18 detail our draft recommendations for each 
area of Fareham. They detail how the proposed warding arrangements reflect the 
three statutory6 criteria: 

 
• Equality of representation. 
• Reflecting community interests and identities. 
• Providing for effective and convenient local government. 

 
37 A summary of our proposed new wards is set out in the table starting on page 
27 and the large map accompanying this report. 

 
38 We welcome all comments on these draft recommendations, particularly on the 
location of the ward boundaries, and the names of our proposed wards. 

  

 
6 Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Page 24



 

8 

Portchester 

 

Ward name Number of 
councillors Variance 2028 

Portchester Wicor  2 1% 
Portsdown & Castle 2 6% 

Portchester Wicor and Portsdown & Castle 
39 The Council proposed Portchester Wicor and Portsdown & Castle wards for the 
Portchester area. The Council proposed that the latter ward replace the existing 
three-councillor Portchester East ward, mindful of the presumption that the borough 
should have a uniform pattern of two-councillor wards. The removal of the current 
three-councillor ward was supported by a local resident. The Council’s Portchester 
Wicor ward is composed of the western part of Portchester that contains the Wicor 
community. 
 
40 Based on the evidence received from the Council, we are content that its 
proposed wards will reflect community identities in the area, and are largely adopting 

Page 25



 

9 

them as part of our draft recommendations. However, we propose two relatively 
minor amendments to the wards to better reflect our statutory criteria. We propose to 
move the boundary between the two wards from behind the properties at 44–98 
West Street to the main road. This ensures that all the commercial properties along 
West Street are contained within a single ward and provides for a more identifiable 
boundary. We also propose that the boundary between Portchester Wicor and 
Wallington & Downend wards largely follows the A27 Portchester Road. We consider 
that following this road will result in a clearer boundary that is recognisable to local 
electors.  
 
41 Our Portchester Wicor and Portsdown & Castle wards will have forecast 
electoral variances of 1% and 6%, respectively, meaning both wards are anticipated 
to have good electoral equality by 2028. 

Page 26



 

10 

Fareham 

 

Ward name Number of 
councillors Variance 2028 

Avenue 2 3% 
Fareham Park 2 -1% 
Fareham Town 2 -7% 
Fort Fareham 2 -5% 
Uplands & Funtley 2 -7% 
Wallington & Downend 2 -4% 

Avenue 
42 The Council proposed an Avenue ward to replace the current Fareham West 
ward, with the ward name derived from the section of the A27 called The Avenue 
that would provide the spine for the ward. As part of our draft recommendations, we 

Page 27



 

11 

were persuaded to adopt an Avenue ward, albeit with significant modifications to the 
Council’s proposal. 
 
43 Based on our visit to the area, we determined that the Council’s Avenue ward 
did not possess sufficiently clear and identifiable boundaries and sought to develop 
an alternative configuration. Instead, our proposed Avenue ward includes electors on 
Catisfield Road and its adjacent roads from the Council’s proposed Meon ward. We 
also propose that electors residing between Longmynd Drive and The Avenue be 
included in our proposed Fort Fareham ward. We consider the former amendment 
will have the support of a local resident, who requested that Catisfield Road and its 
connected roads should form part of a Fareham West ward. Our proposed Avenue 
ward also includes Langstone Walk and its adjacent roads, which the Council had 
placed in its Fort Fareham ward. We consider that these changes to the Council’s 
proposed Avenue ward will result in a ward with stronger and more recognisable 
boundaries that provide a better reflection of our statutory criteria. 

 
44 The Council proposed that Avenue ward also include Brook Farm Avenue, 
Gudge Heath Lane, Lawrence Road, Murray Close, Nicholas Crescent, Rowland 
Road and Stephen Road that are currently located in Fareham North ward. This 
change would therefore place the boundary between Avenue and Fareham Town 
wards along the railway line. This received support from a local resident. We agree 
that the railway line represents a strong, identifiable boundary and have adopted this 
proposal as part of our draft recommendations. 
 
Fareham Park 
45 The Council proposed to retain the boundaries of the existing Fareham North 
West ward, which is forecast to have good electoral equality, but renamed the ward 
Fareham Park to better reflect the community identities. We agree that this name is 
more illustrative of the ward’s constituent communities and have adopted it as part of 
our draft recommendations. 
 
46 The current Fareham North West ward is bounded by the West Coastway 
railway line to the south, with the borough boundary forming the western boundary. 
The M27 and Eastleigh–Fareham railway line largely form the northern and eastern 
boundaries of the existing ward. However, we propose to adopt a proposal made by 
two local residents to include electors residing on Red Barn Lane, Sunbury Court, 
Lechlade Gardens and Marlow Close in our proposed Fareham Park ward, so that 
the M27 forms the entirety of the northern boundary, and the railway line forms the 
entirety of the eastern boundary. We consider these features represent strong and 
identifiable boundaries that will be recognisable to local electors. 

 
47 A local resident suggested that the part of Fareham West ward to north of The 
Avenue be transferred into a Fareham North West ward. We decided not to adopt 

Page 28



 

12 

this proposal as we consider insufficient community evidence was provided to 
support this proposal. 
 
Fareham Town 
48 The Council proposed a new Fareham Town ward to replace the Fareham East 
ward that currently covers Fareham town centre. We have decided to adopt a 
Fareham Town ward, but propose alterations to the Council’s ward to better reflect 
our statutory criteria. We propose to include the area that lies between the A32 and 
Henry Cort Way in Fareham Town ward. This modification ensures that we can 
achieve good electoral equality across wards, given our decision to include the area 
bounded by Park Lane, Osborn Road and Wickham Road in Wallington & Downend 
ward. We have also placed the boundary between our Fareham Town and 
Wallington & Downend wards along Wallington Way, to ensure that the entirety of 
Fareham town centre lies in a single ward. This reflects a submission from a local 
resident who suggested that we create a ‘Central Fareham’ ward that placed East 
Street, High Street and West Street in a single ward. 
 
49 Four local residents requested that the area south of A27, between the A32 and 
Fareham Creek, be included in a Fareham South ward. We were unable to adopt 
this proposal as it would result in our proposed Fareham Town ward having a 
forecast electoral variance of -35%, meaning it would be significantly over-
represented by 2028. 
 
Fort Fareham 
50 We have adopted a Fort Fareham ward, as suggested by the Council to replace 
the current Fareham South ward, as part of our draft recommendations. We were 
persuaded that this ward would reflect the community identities of the West End 
community. However, we have made some further modifications to better reflect our 
statutory criteria. 
 
51 The eastern boundary of our Fort Fareham ward will follow Henry Cort Way, 
thereby including the area between the A32 and Henry Cort Way in our Fareham 
Town ward. The northern and western boundary will instead follow The Avenue and 
Peak Lane, as opposed to the Council’s suggestion to run the boundary along 
Longmynd Road and to the north of Langstone Walk (and its adjacent roads). We 
consider our proposed boundaries to be stronger and more identifiable. 

 
52 A local resident suggested that the current Fareham South ward incorporate 
the area south of The Avenue and be renamed Fareham South West. We decided 
not to adopt this proposal as we consider that insufficient community evidence was 
provided to support this proposal. 
 
 
 

Page 29



 

13 

Uplands & Funtley 
53 A high level of growth is expected in the current Fareham North ward due to the 
Welborne Garden Village development, which would result in the ward being 
significantly under-represented by 2028. This therefore necessitated a reduction in 
the size of the ward to achieve good electoral equality. This was recognised by 
Councillor Pankhurst and several local residents who stated that we should account 
for this development when formulating our recommendations. 
 
54 A ward composed of Funtley and the Welborne Garden Village development 
would be over-represented by 2028. As a result, we could not adopt the request 
made by three local residents for a Fareham North ward bounded by the M27, who 
stated that communities north and south of the motorway are distinct. In any case, 
we consider it preferable to combine separate communities in the same ward rather 
than dividing them between wards to ensure good electoral equality. Therefore, we 
are adopting the Council’s proposals which link Funtley and the Welborne Garden 
Village development north of the M27 with the Uplands community that lies south of 
M27.  

 
55 Our proposed Uplands & Funtley ward is forecast to have an electoral variance 
of -7%, meaning it will have good electoral equality by 2028. With the Council 
indicating that further development is expected in the ward after 2028, this relatively 
low variance should allow the ward to maintain a good level of electoral equality 
post-2028. 
 
Wallington & Downend 
56 Our draft recommendations for this ward are based on the Council’s proposals 
that link Wallington village with the Downend area. Both lie between Fareham town 
and Portchester. 
 
57 However, we recommend a significant amendment to the Council’s proposed 
ward to better reflect our statutory criteria. Specifically, we have also included the 
area bounded by Park Lane, Osborn Road and Wickham Road, which the Council 
placed in its proposed Fareham Town ward. We consider that this modification will 
provide for stronger boundaries and ensure good electoral equality across wards. 

 
58 Our Wallington & Downend ward also includes the Cams area. Two local 
residents argued that this area is distinct from the Portchester area that it is currently 
warded with, and shares closer links with the Fareham town area. We therefore 
examined the Council’s proposal, which placed the Cams area in Wallington & 
Downend ward. Based on our visit to the borough, we determined that the Cams 
area has strong links with the Downend community. Therefore, we have decided to 
place it in our Wallington & Downend ward, rather than in a Portchester-centric ward. 

  

Page 30



 

14 

Hill Head, Meon and Stubbington 

 

Ward name Number of 
councillors Variance 2028 

Hill Head 2 2% 
Meon  2 -10% 
Stubbington 2 -7% 

Hill Head and Stubbington 
59 We have based our draft recommendations for Hill Head and Stubbington 
wards on those proposed by the Council, which largely retained the existing wards, 

Page 31



 

15 

subject to some minor modifications to reflect ground detail. Their proposed wards 
are forecast good electoral equality in 2028 and reflect community identities, based 
on the evidence received. 
 
60 Two local residents requested that we extend the current Hill Head ward 
westward to incorporate the Meon Shore in the ward. We decided not to adopt this 
proposal as we consider the River Meon to be a strong and identifiable boundary in 
this area of the borough. 
 
61 A local resident requested that Stubbington ward be represented by three 
councillors, owing to possible residential development in the ward. However, given 
that Fareham elects half of its councillors every two years, there is a presumption in  
law that it will have a uniform pattern of two-councillor wards. In this case, we were 
not persuaded that compelling evidence has been received to justify a three-
councillor ward. 
 
Meon 
62 We propose to adopt a Meon ward, as suggested by the Council to replace the 
current Titchfield ward. However, we are proposing some boundary modifications to 
better reflect community identities and create more identifiable ward boundaries. 
 
63 As detailed in paragraph 43, we determined that the Council’s Avenue ward did 
not possess sufficiently clear and identifiable boundaries, so we therefore transferred 
Catisfield Road and its adjacent roads from the Council’s proposed Meon ward into 
our Avenue ward. However, we have decided to place Catisfield village in our 
proposed Meon ward. Based on our visit to the area, we determined that it shares 
relatively strong community and geographic links with Titchfield village and placing 
the two areas in the same ward will effectively balance our statutory criteria. We also 
note that our proposed Meon ward avoids the division of the Catisfield area between 
wards, as requested by the Catisfield Village Association. 

 
64 We received a submission from a local resident residing off Hollam Drive, 
requesting that they be included in a Fareham West ward, rather than be a ward with 
Titchfield village, as at present. We decided not to adopt this proposal as it would 
result in our Meon ward having an electoral variance of -22% by 2028. In any case, 
we note that our proposed Meon ward reflects a submission made by a local resident 
residing on Fairacre Rise, who stated that they consider themselves part of the 
Titchfield village community. Our draft recommendations include Fairacre Rise in 
Meon ward. 
 
65 We recognise that the Council has named this ward Meon rather than 
Titchfield, as under the existing arrangements. While we have adopted the Council’s 
proposed name as part of our draft recommendations, we welcome comments as to 
which ward name is preferable, or if any alternative names are more suitable.  

Page 32



 

16 

Hook-with-Warsash, Locks Heath, Park Gate, Sarisbury & Whiteley and 
Titchfield Common 

 

Ward name Number of 
councillors Variance 2028 

Hook-with-Warsash 2 8% 
Locks Heath 2 5% 
Park Gate 2 9% 
Sarisbury & Whiteley 2 3% 
Titchfield Common 2 4% 

Page 33



 

17 

Hook-with-Warsash 
66 The Council proposed a Hook-with-Warsash ward that largely followed the 
boundaries of the existing Warsash ward. We propose to adopt this ward as part of 
our draft recommendations, subject to boundary changes in the north of the ward, 
where we have decided to follow the county division boundary north of Campion 
Close, Horseshoe Lodge and Highfields. We consider this modification will aid 
effective and convenient local government. 
 
67 The Council named this ward Hook-with-Warsash, stating that this name had 
the support of the Warsash Residents’ Association. We agree that this ward name 
will better reflect the identities of the distinct Hook and Warsash communities that will 
comprise the ward and have adopted it as part of our draft recommendations. Our 
Hook-with-Warsash ward will also have good electoral equality, with a forecast 
electoral variance of 8% by 2028. 
 
Locks Heath and Park Gate 
68 Our draft recommendations for these two wards are largely based on the 
Council’s proposals. The Council proposed a Locks Heath ward that includes the 
Locks Heath Shopping Village and the Locks Heath Junior School. Its proposed Park 
Gate ward transfers Park Gate Primary School from the current Locks Heath ward. 
The Council’s proposed wards reflect the concerns of three local residents who 
opposed the inclusion of the Priory Park area in the existing Park Gate ward, and a 
local resident who opposed the current boundary that follows the rear of properties 
on Brook Lane, which we propose to place entirely in Park Gate ward. 
 
69 Based on the above, we consider that these two wards will effectively reflect 
community identities. We agree with the Council that these proposed wards 
represent a more coherent warding arrangement for the area and thus a better 
reflection of our statutory criteria. A local resident also noted that the current Park 
Gate ward is under-represented. The Council’s proposed Park Gate ward remedies 
this issue, with its proposed ward providing for good electoral equality. 

 
70 We nonetheless propose a modification to the Council’s proposed wards. We 
have decided to include the northern side of Church Road in Park Gate ward. This 
means we have placed the boundary along the road, as opposed to the rear of 
properties on the northern part of the road. We consider that this amendment to the 
Council’s proposals will provide for a clearer and more identifiable boundary. 

 
71 A local resident requested that the entirety of Little Fox Drive be included in 
Park Gate ward. We decided to adopt this proposal, as we consider placing the 
entirety of the road in a single ward will better reflect road access routes in the ward, 
which will contribute to effective and convenient local government. 
 
 

Page 34



 

18 

Sarisbury & Whiteley 
72 As part of our draft recommendations, we have decided to broadly retain the 
boundaries of the existing Sarisbury ward, as proposed by the Council. This was 
supported by a local resident. The current ward is anticipated to have good electoral 
equality in 2028 and we are content that it reflects community identities in the area. 
 
73 We have named this ward Sarisbury & Whiteley, as suggested by the Council, 
to better reflect the two main communities included in the ward. 

 
74 We received submissions that asked for the entirety of the Whiteley community, 
which straddles the boundary between Fareham and Winchester, to be wholly 
contained within either authority. This, however, falls outside the scope of the current 
electoral review. 
 
Titchfield Common 
75 We have generally followed the Council’s proposed Titchfield Common ward, 
subject to a minor boundary amendment. We have included electors at the southern 
end of Hunts Pond Road in our proposed Meon ward, as we consider following the 
county division boundary, which runs along the perimeter of Locks Heath Recreation 
Ground, and Warsash Road, will contribute to effective and convenient local 
government. 
 
76 A local resident requested that Locks Heath Park Road and its adjacent roads 
be included in Locks Heath ward, as opposed to Titchfield Common ward, stating 
that the boundary should follow the public footpath near Abshot Community Centre. 
We decided not to adopt this proposal as it would result in our proposed Locks Heath 
and Titchfield Common wards having electoral variances of 24% and -13% 
respectively by 2028, which would not provide for good electoral equality. 

  

Page 35



 

19 

Conclusions 
77 The table below provides a summary of the impact of our draft 
recommendations on electoral equality in Fareham, referencing the 2021 and 2028 
electorate figures against the proposed number of councillors and wards. A full list of 
wards, names and their corresponding electoral variances can be found in Appendix 
A to the back of this report. An outline map of the wards is provided in Appendix B. 
 
Summary of electoral arrangements 
 Draft recommendations 

 2021 2028 

Number of councillors 32 32 

Number of electoral wards 16 16 

Average number of electors per councillor 2,873 3,056 

Number of wards with a variance of more than 
10% from the average 2 0 

Number of wards with a variance of more than 
20% from the average 1 0 

 
Draft recommendations 
Fareham Borough Council should be made up of 32 councillors serving 16 two-
councillor wards. The details and names are shown in Appendix A and illustrated 
on the large maps accompanying this report. 

 
Mapping 
Sheet 1, Map 1 shows the proposed wards for Fareham. 
You can also view our draft recommendations for Fareham on our interactive maps 
at www.consultation.lgbce.org.uk 

 
  

Page 36

http://www.consultation.lgbce.org.uk/


 

20 

  

Page 37



 

21 

Have your say 
78 The Commission has an open mind about its draft recommendations. Every 
representation we receive will be considered, regardless of who it is from or whether 
it relates to the whole borough or just a part of it. 
 
79 If you agree with our recommendations, please let us know. If you don’t think 
our recommendations are right for Fareham, we want to hear alternative proposals 
for a different pattern of wards.  
 
80 Our website has a special consultation area where you can explore the maps. 
You can find it at www.consultation.lgbce.org.uk  
 
81 Submissions can also be made by emailing reviews@lgbce.org.uk or by writing 
to: 
 

Review Officer (Fareham)    
LGBCE 
PO Box 133 
Blyth 
NE14 9FE  
 

82 The Commission aims to propose a pattern of wards for Fareham which 
delivers: 
 

• Electoral equality: each local councillor represents a similar number of 
electors. 

• Community identity: reflects the identity and interests of local communities. 
• Effective and convenient local government: helping your council discharge 

its responsibilities effectively. 
 
83 A good pattern of wards should: 
 

• Provide good electoral equality, with each councillor representing, as 
closely as possible, the same number of electors. 

• Reflect community interests and identities and include evidence of 
community links. 

• Be based on strong, easily identifiable boundaries. 
• Help the council deliver effective and convenient local government. 

  

Page 38

http://www.consultation.lgbce.org.uk/
mailto:reviews@lgbce.org.uk


 

22 

84 Electoral equality: 
 

• Does your proposal mean that councillors would represent roughly the 
same number of electors as elsewhere in Fareham? 

 
85 Community identity: 
 

• Community groups: is there a parish council, residents’ association or 
another group that represents the area? 

• Interests: what issues bind the community together or separate it from 
other parts of your area? 

• Identifiable boundaries: are there natural or constructed features which 
make strong boundaries for your proposals? 

 
86 Effective local government: 
 

• Are any of the proposed wards too large or small to be represented 
effectively? 

• Are the proposed names of the wards appropriate? 
• Are there good links across your proposed wards? Is there any form of 

public transport? 
 
87 Please note that the consultation stages of an electoral review are public 
consultations. In the interests of openness and transparency, we make available for 
public inspection full copies of all representations the Commission takes into account 
as part of a review. Accordingly, copies of all representations will be placed on 
deposit at our offices and our website at www.lgbce.org.uk A list of respondents will 
be available from us on request after the end of the consultation period. 
 
88 If you are a member of the public and not writing on behalf of a council or 
organisation we will remove any personal identifiers. This includes your name, postal 
or email addresses, signatures or phone numbers from your submission before it is 
made public. We will remove signatures from all letters, no matter who they are from. 
 
89 In the light of representations received, we will review our draft 
recommendations and consider whether they should be altered. As indicated earlier, 
it is therefore important that all interested parties let us have their views and 
evidence, whether or not they agree with the draft recommendations. We will then 
publish our final recommendations. 
 
90 After the publication of our final recommendations, the changes we have 
proposed must be approved by Parliament. An Order – the legal document which 
brings into force our recommendations – will be laid in draft in Parliament. The draft 

Page 39

http://www.lgbce.org.uk/


 

23 

Order will provide for new electoral arrangements to be implemented at the all-out 
elections for Fareham in 2024. 

  

Page 40



 

24 

  

Page 41



 

25 

Equalities 
91 The Commission has looked at how it carries out reviews under the guidelines 
set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. It has made its best endeavours to 
ensure that people with protected characteristics can participate in the review 
process and is sufficiently satisfied that no adverse equality impacts will arise as a 
result of the outcome of the review. 

Page 42



 

26 

  

P
age 43



 

27 

Appendices 
Appendix A 

Draft recommendations for Fareham Borough Council 

 Ward name Number of 
councillors 

Electorate 
(2021) 

Number of 
electors per 
councillor 

Variance 
from  

average % 

Electorate 
(2028) 

Number of 
electors per 
councillor 

Variance 
from 

average % 

1 Avenue 2 5,974 2,987 7% 6,314 3,157 3% 

2 Fareham Park 2 5,800 2,900 4% 6,063 3,032 -1% 

3 Fareham Town 2 5,288 2,644 -5% 5,709 2,855 -7% 

4 Fort Fareham 2 5,502 2,751 -1% 5,831 2,916 -5% 

5 Hill Head 2 5,868 2,934 5% 6,229 3,115 2% 

6 Hook-with-
Warsash 2 4,989 2,495 -10% 6,602 3,301 8% 

7 Locks Heath 2 5,900 2,950 6% 6,398 3,199 5% 

8 Meon 2 5,141 2,571 -8% 5,472 2,736 -10% 

9 Park Gate 2 6,193 3,097 11% 6,642 3,321 9% 

10 Portchester Wicor 2 5,751 2,876 3% 6,176 3,088 1% 

11 Portsdown & 
Castle 2 6,094 3,047 9% 6,452 3,226 6% 

12 Sarisbury & 
Whiteley 2 5,997 2,999 8% 6,324 3,162 3% 

13 Stubbington 2 5,337 2,669 -4% 5,664 2,832 -7% 

P
age 44



 

28 

 Ward name Number of 
councillors 

Electorate 
(2021) 

Number of 
electors per 
councillor 

Variance 
from  

average % 

Electorate 
(2028) 

Number of 
electors per 
councillor 

Variance 
from 

average % 

14 Titchfield 
Common 2 5,974 2,987 7% 6,385 3,193 4% 

15 Uplands & Funtley 2 3,668 1,834 -34% 5,657 2,829 -7% 

16 Wallington & 
Downend 2 5,570 2,785 0% 5,872 2,936 -4% 

 Totals 32 89,046 – – 97,790 – – 

 Averages – – 2,783 – – 3,056 – 
 
Source: Electorate figures are based on information provided by Fareham Borough Council. 
 
Note: The ‘variance from average’ column shows by how far, in percentage terms, the number of electors per councillor in each electoral ward 
varies from the average for the borough. The minus symbol (-) denotes a lower than average number of electors. Figures have been rounded to 
the nearest whole number. 
 

P
age 45



 

29 

Appendix B 

Outline map 

 

A more detailed version of this map can be seen on the large map accompanying 
this report, or on our website: www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/south-
east/hampshire/fareham  

Page 46

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/south-east/hampshire/fareham
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/south-east/hampshire/fareham


 

30 

Appendix C 

Submissions received 

All submissions received can also be viewed on our website at:  
www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/south-east/hampshire/fareham 
 
Local Authority 
 

• Fareham Borough Council 
 
Councillors 
 

• Councillor S. Pankhurst (Fareham Borough Council and Hampshire 
County Council) 

 
Local Organisations 
 

• Catisfield Village Association 
 
Local Residents 
 

• 61 local residents 

  

Page 47

http://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/south-east/hampshire/fareham


 

31 

Appendix D 

Glossary and abbreviations  

Council size The number of councillors elected to 
serve on a council 

Electoral Change Order (or Order) A legal document which implements 
changes to the electoral arrangements 
of a local authority 

Division A specific area of a county, defined for 
electoral, administrative and 
representational purposes. Eligible 
electors can vote in whichever division 
they are registered for the candidate or 
candidates they wish to represent them 
on the county council 

Electoral inequality Where there is a difference between the 
number of electors represented by a 
councillor and the average for the local 
authority 

Electorate People in the authority who are 
registered to vote in elections. We only 
take account of electors registered 
specifically for local elections during our 
reviews. 

Number of electors per councillor The total number of electors in a local 
authority divided by the number of 
councillors 

Over-represented Where there are fewer electors per 
councillor in a ward or division than the 
average  

Parish A specific and defined area of land 
within a single local authority enclosed 
within a parish boundary. There are over 
10,000 parishes in England, which 
provide the first tier of representation to 
their local residents 

Page 48



 

32 

Parish council A body elected by electors in the parish 
which serves and represents the area 
defined by the parish boundaries. See 
also ‘Town council’ 

Parish (or town) council electoral 
arrangements 

The total number of councillors on any 
one parish or town council; the number, 
names and boundaries of parish wards; 
and the number of councillors for each 
ward 

Parish ward A particular area of a parish, defined for 
electoral, administrative and 
representational purposes. Eligible 
electors can vote in whichever parish 
ward they live for candidate or 
candidates they wish to represent them 
on the parish council 

Town council A parish council which has been given 
ceremonial ‘town’ status. More 
information on achieving such status 
can be found at www.nalc.gov.uk  

Under-represented Where there are more electors per 
councillor in a ward or division than the 
average  

Variance (or electoral variance) How far the number of electors per 
councillor in a ward or division varies in 
percentage terms from the average 

Ward A specific area of a district or borough, 
defined for electoral, administrative and 
representational purposes. Eligible 
electors can vote in whichever ward 
they are registered for the candidate or 
candidates they wish to represent them 
on the district or borough council 

 

Page 49

http://www.nalc.gov.uk/


The Local Government Boundary
Commission for England (LGBCE) was set
up by Parliament, independent of
Government and political parties. It is
directly accountable to Parliament through a
committee chaired by the Speaker of the
House of Commons. It is responsible for
conducting boundary, electoral and
structural reviews of local government.

Local Government Boundary Commission for
England
1st Floor, Windsor House
50 Victoria Street, London
SW1H 0TL

Telephone: 0330 500 1525
Email: reviews@lgbce.org.uk
Online: www.lgbce.org.uk 
             www.consultation.lgbce.org.uk
Twitter: @LGBCE

Page 50



WALLINGTON
& DOWNEND

FAREHAM
PARK

FAREHAM
TOWN

HOOK-WITH-WARSASH

LOCKS
HEATH

PARK GATE

PORTSDOWN
& CASTLE

SARISBURY
& WHITELEY

TITCHFIELD
COMMON

UPLANDS &
FUNTLEY

PORTCHESTER
WICOR

MEON

FORT
FAREHAM

AVENUE

HILL HEAD

STUBBINGTON

SHEET 1, MAP 1

0 0.5 10.25

Kilometres

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY COMMISSION FOR ENGLAND 

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the permission of Ordnance Survey
on behalf of the Keeper of Public Records © Crown copyright and database right.
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and database right.
The Local Government Boundary Commission for England GD100049926 2022.

Boundary alignment and names shown on the mapping background
may not be up to date. They may differ from the latest boundary information 
applied as part of this review.

ELECTORAL REVIEW OF FAREHAM

Draft recommendations for ward boundaries in the borough of Fareham  September 2022
Sheet 1 of 1

1 cm = 0.1265 km

KEY

BOROUGH COUNCIL BOUNDARY
PROPOSED WARD BOUNDARY
PROPOSED WARD NAMESTUBBINGTON

P
age 51





   

 
 

Report to 
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs 

Committee 
 
 
 
Date 11 October 2022 
 
Report of: Head of Environmental Health 
 
Subject: LICENSING AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS COMMITTEE WORK 

PROGRAMME 2022/23  
 
 

SUMMARY 

At its meeting in July, the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee reviewed the 
progress of the Work Programme for 2022/23 and agreed the Work Programme for the 
remainder of the municipal year. 
 
Members are now invited to note the actions from the last meeting and to further review 
the Work Programme for 2022/23. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
It is recommended that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee:- 
 

(a) notes the progress on actions arising from the meeting of the Committee held 
on 25 July 2022, as shown in Appendix A to the report; and 
 

(b) agrees the updated Work Programme for 2022/23, as attached at Appendix B 
to the report. 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



 

   

 

INTRODUCTION 

1. At the Committee meeting on 25 July 2022, the Committee reviewed progress on actions 
since the last meeting and agreed the Work Programme for the remainder of the 2022/23 
municipal year.  

MONITORING 

2. The progress on actions since the last meeting of the Committee is attached as Appendix 
A to this report for information.  

WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

3. The Committee’s Work Programme for 2022/23 is attached as Appendix B to this report 
for consideration. 

 REVISIONS TO WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

4. Members are asked to note the following revisions to the Work Programme 2022/23: 

(i) the addition of an item entitled ‘Local Government Boundary Review – 
Consultation on Proposals for Fareham’ to the agenda of the meeting scheduled 
to take place on 11 October 2022; and 

(ii) the deferment of the item entitled ‘Arrangements for Additional Voluntary 
Contributions within the Local Government Pension Scheme’ from the meeting 
scheduled to take place on 11 October 2022 to the meeting scheduled to take 
place on 31 January 2023. 

5. Members are now invited to consider and agree any further additions to the Work 
Programme for 2022/23 

RISK ASSESSMENT 

6. There are no significant risk considerations in relation to this report. 

CONCLUSION 

7. To summarise, the Committee is now invited to note the progress on matters considered 
by the Committee at its last meeting, as shown in Appendix A to this report and agree 
the updated Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee Work Programme for 2022/23, 
as set out in Appendix B. 

 
 

APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix A – Progress on actions since the last Committee Meeting 

Appendix B – Current Work Programme 2022/23  

 
Enquiries:   For further information on this report please contact Ian Rickman. (Ext 4773)
         

Page 54



 

   

 

APPENDIX A  
LICENSING AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS COMMITTEE - Progress on Actions from last meeting 
 
Date of 
Meeting 

25 July 2022 

Subject REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE TARIFF 
Type of Item Report 
Action by 
Committee 

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Environmental Health which presented the details and outcome of the 
public consultation on the Hackney Carriage Tariff and invited members to consider whether an increase in the tariff would be 
appropriate.  
 
Members noted that, at their own request, the Taxi Trade has not had an increase in tariff for several years as it has been 
keen to maintain an affordable service to the residents of Fareham.  However, due to the increasing cost of living, it was 
strongly felt that an increase would be appropriate this year.  
 
In discussing the level of increase in the Hackney Carriage Tariff, members felt that it was important to pay high regard to the 
level of increase requested by the Trade, as they are best placed to understand what will work best for their industry. The 
Committee was therefore supportive that the Tariff be increased in line with option ii) as outlined in paragraph 7 of the report.  
 
In discussing the proposed amendments to the Tariff Card, as outlined at paragraph 16 of the report, the Committee felt that 
no extra charge should be made to customers paying their fare by card but felt that it was reasonable that in the event of a 
journey including a toll or congestion charge, these should be added to the fare.  
 
RESOLVED that, having considered the responses received from the consultation, the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs 
Committee: 
 

(a) considers that an increase in the Hackney Carriage Tariff is appropriate; and  
 

(b) recommends to the Executive that:   
 

i. the Hackney Carriage Tariff be increased to £3.00 pull off plus 20p for each succeeding 170 metres; 
 

ii. the Tariff Card be updated to state that no extra charge may be made for making payments by card; and  

P
age 55



 
 

          
 

 
iii. the Tariff Card be updated to state that any toll or congestion charge may be added to the fare.   

 
Outcome Approved by the Executive at their meeting held on 05 September 2022 
Link Officer Ian Rickman 
  

Subject REVIEW OF TAXI AND PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING REQUIREMENTS 
Type of Item Report 
Action by 
Committee 

The Committee received a report by the Head of Environmental Health which presented proposed changes to the Taxi and 
Private Hire Licensing Requirements for consideration. 
 
In discussing the proposal that drug testing be introduced, members were assured that if agreement in principle is given, 
research would be carried out by officers to ensure that the quality of the tests secured for use is fit for purpose.    
 
RESOLVED that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee: 
 

(a) approves the following amendments to the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Requirements: 
 

i. the introduction of 6 monthly DBS checks via the update service; 
 

ii. the introduction of drug testing for new applicants and randomly for licensed drivers; 
 

iii. an amendment to documentation to include Tax checks 
 

iv. an amendment to documentation to start using the National Database of Refusals and Revocations (NR3); 
 

v. a requirement that vehicle age when first plating must be less than 5 years old; and 
 

(b) agrees to delegate authority to the Head of Environmental Health to redraft and publish the document to reflect these 
changes. 

 

P
age 56



 
 

          
 

Outcome Complete 
Link Officer Ian Rickman 
  

Subject LICENSING AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
Type of Item Report 
Action by 
Committee 

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Environmental Health on the Committee’s Work Programme for 2022/23. 
 
RESOLVED that the Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee: 
 

(a) notes the progress on actions arising from the meeting of the Committee held on 27 June 2022, as shown in Appendix 
A to the report; and  
 

(b) agrees the updated Work Programme for 2022/23, as attached as Appendix B to the report.  
 

Outcome Complete 
Link Officer Ian Rickman 

P
age 57



 

   

 

 
APPENDIX B 

  
LICENSING AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS COMMITTEE –WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 

 
DATE SUBJECT TRAINING 

SESSION/ 
WORKSHOP 

27 June 2022 Presentation on the Responsibilities of the Licensing 
and Regulatory Affairs Committee 
Local Government Boundary Commission Review 
Update 
Review of current Work Programme 

 

25 July 2022 Review of Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 
Requirements 
Review of Hackney Carriage Tarif 
Review of current Work Programme 

 

05 September 
2022 at 3pm 

 Licensing 
Training 

11 October 2022 Local Government Boundary Review – Consultation on 
Proposals for Fareham 
Review of current Work Programme 

 

29 November 
2022 

Review of current Work Programme 
 
 

 

31 January 2023 Actual Revenue Expenditure 2021/22 
Spending Plans 2023/24 
Fees and Charges 2023/24 
Arrangements for Additional Voluntary Contributions 
within the Local Government Pensions Scheme (LGPS) 
Preliminary Review of current Work Programme and 
Draft Work Programme 2023/24 
 

 

14 March 2023 
 
 
 

Police Update on Licensing Matters 
Update on Fareham & Gosport Environmental Health 
Partnership – Presentation 
Final Review of current Work Programme and Draft 
Work Programme 2023/24 
 

 

 

Page 58


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Local Government Boundary Review  - Consultation on Proposals for Fareham
	Appendix A - Fareham Draft Recommendations Report
	Introduction 1
	Analysis and draft recommendations 5
	Portchester 8
	Fareham 10
	Hill Head, Meon and Stubbington 14
	Hook-with-Warsash, Locks Heath, Park Gate, Sarisbury & Whiteley and Titchfield Common 16
	Conclusions 19
	Have your say 21
	Equalities 25
	Appendices 27
	Draft recommendations for Fareham Borough Council 27
	Outline map 29
	Submissions received 30
	Glossary and abbreviations 31
	Introduction
	Who we are and what we do
	What is an electoral review?
	Why Fareham?
	Our proposals for Fareham
	How will the recommendations affect you?
	Have your say
	Review timetable

	Analysis and draft recommendations
	Submissions received
	Electorate figures
	Number of councillors
	Ward boundaries consultation
	Draft recommendations
	Portchester
	Portchester Wicor and Portsdown & Castle
	Avenue
	Fareham Park
	Fareham Town
	Fort Fareham
	Uplands & Funtley
	Wallington & Downend

	Hill Head, Meon and Stubbington
	Hill Head and Stubbington
	Meon

	Hook-with-Warsash, Locks Heath, Park Gate, Sarisbury & Whiteley and Titchfield Common
	Hook-with-Warsash
	Locks Heath and Park Gate
	Sarisbury & Whiteley
	Titchfield Common



	Conclusions
	Summary of electoral arrangements

	Have your say
	Equalities
	Appendices
	Appendix A
	Draft recommendations for Fareham Borough Council

	Appendix B
	Outline map

	Appendix C
	Submissions received
	Local Authority
	Councillors
	Local Organisations
	Local Residents


	Appendix D
	Glossary and abbreviations


	Blank Page

	Appendix B - Fareham Draft Recommendations Map

	7 Licensing and Regulatory Affairs Committee Work Programme



